

LUND UNIVERSITY

Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization in forest soils

Alaei, Saeed

2019

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Alaei, S. (2019). Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization in forest soils (2019 ed.). [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Biology]. Biologiska institutionen, Lunds universitet.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization in forest soils

SAEED ALAEI FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization

in forest soils

Saeed Alaei



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Science, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Blue Hall, Ecology Building, Sölvegatan 37, Lund, Sweden on the 15th of Feb 2019 at 9:00.

> *Faculty opponent* Dr. Eric Paterson

James Hutton Institute, Aberdeen Scotland, UK

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Department of Biology, EcologyBuilding SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden	Date of issue: 2019-01-21	
Author: Saeed Alaei	Sponsoring organization	
Title and subtitle: Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization in forest soils		

Abstract

Decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM) contributes significantly to the global carbon (C) cycle and climate feedbacks. SOM decomposition depends on soil microbial activities, and these activities are driven by the availability of C and other nutrients. Plant root exudates are known to alter decomposition of SOM, a phenomenon referred to as rhizosphere priming effects (RPE). In order to predict the effect of environmental changes such as elevated CO_2 and increased N deposition on microbial SOM decomposition and release of CO_2 to the atmosphere, we need a better understanding of the factors that regulate RPE.

In this thesis, I present my results from priming experiments with and without plants. I studied the effect of root exudates on SOM decomposition by adding glucose to soil to simulate root exudation. I also performed experiments with living plants. The aim was to investigate how variations in C and N availability influence priming. I further aimed to determine how elevated CO₂, N fertilization, and light intensity influence root exudation rates and priming. I also tested how priming influence gross N mineralization and protein depolymerization, and if this could be linked to the abundance of different microbial functional groups and extracellular enzyme activity.

I found that the soil C:N ratio is a poor predictor of priming. Instead, my findings suggest that the C:N imbalance (soil C:N divided by microbial biomass C:N) could better predict priming. My findings suggest that C:N imbalances could induce priming by increasing the abundance of microbes able to decompose complex substrates such as lignin. My results further suggest that priming is a result of enhanced activity of extracellular oxidative enzymes, rather than a change in the concentration of enzymes. I also found that in addition to increasing N cycling rates, soil microbes could meet their increased N demand caused by C input through using the available N more efficiently. This suggests that plant C input might aggravate N limitation by promoting microbial N sequestration.

My findings highlight that elevated CO_2 and N deposition enhance plant C uptake, but they also increase the microbial respiration of SOM to an even greater extent. These findings suggest that in order to evaluate if elevated CO_2 and N deposition increases terrestrial C sequestration, changes in the microbial decomposition of SOM also needs to be accounted for. Finally, my results demonstrated that physiological traits of different plant species, e.g. response to altered light intensity, also have important effects on RPE.

In summary, my findings suggest that priming is of major importance not only for C cycling in forest soils, but also for N cycling. Stoichiometric imbalances in C and N, plant and microbial nutrient demands, and the microbial response to nutrient deficiency, are important factors regulating RPE. I also conclude that priming a result of stimulated activity of extracellular oxidative enzymes, rather than of increased concentration of such enzymes.

Key words: Soil organic matter, C:N imbalance, root exudates, priming, extracellular enzymes

ISBN: 978-91-7753-946-9 (print)					
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English			
ISSN and key title		ISBN: 978-91-7753-947-6 (pdf)			
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 220	Price			
	Security classification				

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Seven More

Date 2019-01-11

Priming of carbon and nitrogen mineralization

in forest soils

Saeed Alaei



Cover design: Jan Öberg

Copyright: Saeed Alaei

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN: 978-91-7753-947-6 (pdf) ISBN: 978-91-7753-946-9 (print)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2019





To my dad - No one has ever given more loving and unconditional support than I have been given by you. I love you, too.

Table of Contents

List of 1 apers	9
Author contributions	11
Popular Science summary	13
Introduction	15
The global C cycle	15
Factors influencing the priming effects	19
C and other nutrients	19
C:N stoichiometry	20
Temperature and moisture	21
Plant species and physiology	23
Microbial communities involved in priming	24
Why priming occurs?	25
Methods commonly used to study priming	
Methods with plants	
Methods without plants	29
Objectives of thesis	
Hypotheses and approaches of studies	
M-41 J-1	
Nietnodology	
Soil respiration measurement	
Soil respiration measurement	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses Phospholipid fatty acids	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses Phospholipid fatty acids MT2 microplate	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses Phospholipid fatty acids MT2 microplate Potential activity of extracellular enzymes	
Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses Phospholipid fatty acids MT2 microplate Potential activity of extracellular enzymes Main findings	
Niethodology Soil respiration measurement Gross N transformation rates Fungal and bacterial growth rate Microbial community analyses Phospholipid fatty acids MT2 microplate Potential activity of extracellular enzymes Main findings The effects of C and N availability on priming	

The role of oxidative and hydrolytic enzymes and different functional microbial groups in priming	43
The effect of elevated CO ₂ and N fertilization on RPE	45
The effect of light intensity on root exudation and RPE	47
Conclusion	49
Outlook	51
Acknowledgements	53
References	55
Paper I	65
Paper II	101
Paper III	131
Paper IV	163
Paper V	187

List of Papers

In this thesis, the papers are referred to by the following roman numerals:

- I. Alaei, S., Wild, B., Knorr, W., Rütting, T., Bengtson, P. Priming induced CO₂ and N fluxes are governed by C and N imbalances and microbial nutrient deficiency. *Manuscript*.
- II. Wild, B., Alaei, S., Bengtson, P., Bode´, S., Boeckx, P., Schnecker, J., Mayerhofer, W., Rütting, T. 2017. Short-term carbon input increases microbial nitrogen demand, but not microbial nitrogen mining, in a set of boreal forest soils. *Biogeochemistry 136: 261-278*.
- III. Alaei, S., Karhu, K., Li, J., Rütting, T., Bengtson, P. Priming of soil organic matter mineralization by glucose additions in boreal forest soils with different C:N ratios. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Zhou, M., Alaei, S., Li, J., Bengtson, P. Rhizosphere priming effects differ between two tree species, Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) under two levels of light intensity. *Manuscript*.
- V. Alaei, S., Li, J., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., Bengtson, P. The influence of elevated CO₂ and N fertilization on rhizosphere priming, C sequestration and N cycling in soil planted with *Picea abies* seedlings. *Manuscript*.

Paper II is reprinted with the permission from the publisher.

Author contributions

- I. SA, PB, TR, and WK designed the experiment. SA and BW performed the experiment. SA analyzed the data, wrote the manuscript, and interpreted results with the assistance of PB. All co-authors provided comments on manuscript drafts.
- II. SA, BW, PB, TR, and designed the experiment. BW and SA performed the experiment. AR, JS, PBX, SB, and WM performed the enzyme and isotopic analyses. BW analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript with input from SA. All co-authors provided comments on manuscript drafts.
- III. SA, KK, PB, JL designed the experiment. SA, JL, KK, and performed the experiment. JL performed enzyme analyses and SA performed the rest of the analyses with assistance from JL and KK. SA wrote the manuscript with input from PB, JL, and KK.
- IV. SA, PB, JL, and MZ designed the experiment. MZ, SA, and JL performed the experiment. MZ and JL analyzed the data. MZ, JL, and SA wrote the manuscript with assistance from PB.
- V. SA, PB, and JL designed the experiment. MJ provided access to and control of incubation chambers. SA performed the experiment with assistance from JL. SA analyzed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All co-authors provided comments on manuscript drafts.

SA: Saeed Alaei	PB: Per Bengtson	BW: Birgit Wild
KK: Kristiina Karhu	JL: Jian Li	MZ: Moyan Zhou
TR: Tobias Rütting	MJ: Marcin Jackowicz-Korczynski	WK: Wolfgang Knorr
SB: Samuel Bode	PBX: Pascal Boeckx	WM: W Mayerhofer
JS: Jörg Schnecker		

Popular Science summary

Carbon dioxide (CO_2) is one of the main gases responsible for greenhouse effect, and human CO₂ emissions have a significant effect on the global climate. After the industrial revolution, human activities such as burning of fossil fuels, deforestation, and increased conventional agricultural production have resulted in a substantial increase in the atmospheric C pool from 285 ppm in 1850 to more than 400 ppm. In spite of global efforts to decrease the atmospheric CO_2 concentration, it reached a new record of 408 ppm in 2018. Since recent efforts to reduce human release of CO_2 to the atmosphere have not been successful, we also need to invest more into gaining knowledge about possible approaches to increase sequestration of atmospheric CO_2 into naturally occurring stable C pools. The main path for C sequestration in terrestrial ecosystems is absorption of CO₂ by plants through photosynthesis. A major part of the photosynthetic C ends up in plant biomass as slowly decomposing compounds like lignin and cellulose, but plants also release a proportion of the recently photosynthesized C from their roots to the soil as fast decomposing root exudates. The increasing atmospheric CO₂ concentration is predicted to enhance photosynthesis, but also root exudation rates.

Root exudates contain easily available organic compounds such as soluble sugars. These compounds are able to alter decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM), a phenomenon termed rhizosphere priming effects (RPE). Even though RPE is one of the fundamental processes that govern SOM decomposition it is currently not accounted for in most global C cycling models. A reason for that could be that the level and even direction of RPE (negative or positive) is different in different soils, and that the cause for this is not known. There are two possible reasons for this ambiguity 1. The controlling factors, underlying molecular mechanisms and microorganisms involved in RPE are still not fully understood. 2. The intricate nature of the plant-microbial interactions is hard to investigate. For instance, increased SOM decomposition can also release plant nutrients that stimulate plant CO_2 uptake and growth and. Thus, the total net outcome of processes such as decomposition and photosynthesis determine future changes in soil C sequestration.

Increased atmospheric CO_2 concentration and anthropogenic N deposition are two of well-known environmental changes that are likely to influence RPE. In my studies, I aimed to address some of the unknowns about RPE, with a particular focus on the effect of C and N availability. Since forest ecosystems are important reservoir of terrestrial C, the studies were carried out in forest soils. By using a combination of laboratory and greenhouse experiments, I investigated the effect of variations in C and N availability on priming of C and N mineralization, as well as on measures of microbial decomposition activities, such as potential activities of extracellular enzymes that decompose SOM.

My findings suggest that the soil C:N ratio is not a good predictor for priming. I suggest that C:N imbalance, which considers both microbial nutrient demand and nutrient provision, could be a better predictor of microbial SOM decomposition and RPE. My findings also suggest that C to N imbalances induce priming because soil microorganisms degrade SOM through enhanced oxidative enzyme activity to acquire their limiting nutrients. Finally, my results highlight that elevated CO_2 and N deposition could enhance plant C uptake, but they also could increase the soil CO_2 efflux. These findings suggest that in order to evaluate if elevated CO_2 and N deposition increase terrestrial C sequestration, gross changes in the soil respiration needs to be accounted for.

Introduction

The global C cycle

The global biogeochemical C cycle is defined as the exchange of C between the atmosphere and terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems (Ciais *et al.*, 2013). Movement of C between different C pools is the result of various biogeochemical processes such as photosynthesis and respiration (Fig.1).



Figure 1. Global C cycle. Numbers in boxes represent reservoir mass (stocks), inventories, or storage in Petra gram of C; PgC (1 Gt) and 2.1 PgC is equivalent to 1 ppm atmospheric CO₂ (Socolow and Lam, 2007). Numbers next to arrows indicate fluxes in PgC/yr. Numbers and arrows in black represent estimates of the pre-industrial so-called natural carbon cycle (ca 1750) and numbers and arrows in red represent estimates of average annual anthropogenic C fluxes (2000 - 2009). Uncertainties are reported as 90% confidence intervals. The image is from Clais *et al.* (2013).

Atmospheric CO₂ one of the main greenhouse gases (GHGs) responsible for climate change (IPCC, 2013). A part of the sun's infrared radiation, which is reflected from surface of the planet, is trapped by GHGs. Even if trapping the heat in the lower atmosphere is of fundamental importance for preservation of life on earth, the recent increase in the concentration of CO₂ have resulted in a concurrent increase in mean global temperature (IPCC, 2013).

After the industrial revolution, human activities such as burning of fossil fuels, deforestation, and increased agricultural production have raised the concentration of CO_2 in the atmosphere from 285 ppm in 1850 (McCarroll and Loader, 2004) to more than 400 ppm in the current century (Houghton, 2007). Today, human activities are responsible for approximately 9 Gt C emissions to the atmosphere annually, of which approximately 5 Gt C is reabsorbed due to enhanced C uptake by photosynthesis in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. The net result is an annual increase of four Gt C in the atmospheric C reservoir (Fig. 1).

The soil C stock (2300 Gt) is approximately three times greater than the current atmospheric C reservoir (Figure. 1). An effective remedy to mitigate the increased atmospheric CO₂ concentration could be to enhance C sequestration in stable C pools in the soil through landscape management and agro-ecological practices (Lal, 2000; Post and Kwon, 2000; Zomer *et al.*, 2017). Two of the main fluxes between the soil C reservoir and the atmospheric C pool are the input of plant-derived organic C into the soil, and microbial decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM). The latter results in release of soil C to the atmosphere as CO_2 . Plant-derived C enters the soil either as above ground or belowground plant litter, or as root exudates. While a substantial part of the plant's litter is in recalcitrant forms such as lignin, root exudates contain easily available C sources like sugars.

Waksman and Starkey (1931) introduced the role of microbial decomposition in the global C cycle. Since then many studies have aimed to reveal the factors that influence the soil microbial activity and elucidate the mechanisms involved in the microbial decomposition of SOM. Special attention has been given to forest ecosystems, since forests are quantitatively important reservoirs of soil C. For instance, the boreal forests soils alone contain approximately 30% of global terrestrial C (Bradshaw *et al.*, 2009; Bradshaw and Warkentin, 2015).

The soil CO_2 flux to the atmosphere is approximately ten times higher than anthropogenic CO_2 emissions (Schlesinger and Andrews, 2000; Raich *et al.*, 2002). Root respiration and microbial respiration of SOM are the two main processes contributing to the soil CO_2 efflux (Kuzyakov, 2006). Therefore, even a small change in SOM decomposition can profoundly influence the soil CO_2 emissions to the atmospheric C pool (Todd-Brown *et al.*, 2014), which could potentially have a profound impact on climate change (Schlesinger and Andrews, 2000). In other word, changes in the soil C balance can turn the soil from a sink to a source of C, or vice versa, depending on how the activity and composition of the soil microbial community responds to future climate conditions (Carney *et al.* 2007; Garcia-Pausas & Paterson 2011).

Plant roots contribute to the soil CO₂ efflux through their own respiration and by exuding labile C compounds through their roots. These labile C compounds can have a profound impact on the microbial decomposition and respiration of SOM (Kuzyakov, 2002; Hütsch et al. 2002; Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008). The effect of labile C compounds on decomposition of SOM is termed "priming effects" (PE), and when the effect is caused by root exudates it is further specified as "rhizosphere priming effects" (RPE) (Helal and Sauerbeck, 1984; Cheng et al., 2003; Cheng et al., 2014). The magnitude of RPE varies widely among different studies (Cheng et al., 2014), ranging from negative effects (Kuzyakov and Cheng, 2001) to four-fold increases in SOM decomposition (Cheng et al., 2003). These results suggests that RPE is one of the quantitatively most important processes in the decomposition of SOM, and that RPE is of major importance for how soil C stocks and nutrient cycling will respond to a future climate (Cheng et al., 2014; Finzi et al., 2015). The increased atmospheric CO_2 concentration is likely to increase plant derived C input to soil (Kuzyakov and Cheng, 2001; Pendall et al., 2004; Phillips et al, 2009), and increased root exudation could lead to stronger RPE (Bengtson et al., 2012). Therefore, in order to estimate how future environmental changes will affect soil C stocks in terrestrial ecosystems, a better understanding of RPE is crucial. Even so, RPE is currently not accounted for in most global C cycling models.

The main aim of this thesis was to investigate the effect of C and N availability on priming of C and N mineralization, and if this could be linked to the potential activities of extracellular enzymes, the abundance of different microbial functional groups, and fungal and bacterial growth rates. I have focused on the priming effects of recently photosynthesized C inputs to the soil, and the term "labile C" refers to the organic C content of the root exudates or compounds found in root exudates, e.g. glucose. Priming effects of more complex substrates, e.g. plant litter, are not included in this thesis.

Factors influencing the priming effects

C and other nutrients

Since RPE is believed to be the result of root exudation, it is reasonable to assume that the magnitude of RPE is related to the root exudation rate. Accordingly, Bengtson *et al.* (2012) found that Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*); Ponderosa pine (*Picea sitchensis*) and Western hemlock (*Tsuga heterophylla*) caused RPE that increased SOM decomposition by between 152-244% in a growth chamber experiment. The variation in priming was linearly related to root exudation rates, with higher priming found at high root exudation rates. Likewise, Yin *et al.* (2014) quantified root exudation rates *in situ* and found that white oak (*Quercus alba*) and American beech (*Fagus grandifolia*) exuded almost twice as much C than sugar maple (*Acer saccharum Marsh*) and tulip poplar (*Liriodendron tulipifera*). There was a positive linear relationship between the RPE and root exudation rates in this study as well.

The findings above have recently been reproduced in a comprehensive laboratory study. Liu *et al.* (2017), estimated the priming effects in a seven week incubation experiment by adding different levels of ¹³C labelled-glucose once a week (8 to 1606 mg kg⁻¹ week⁻¹) to different soil types (cool desert grassland, Pinion-juniper woodland, ponderosa pine forest, and mix conifer forest). They found a positive and linear correlation between priming and glucose addition in all soils. Moreover, the results did not show any saturation stage for added glucose. A possible cause for these observations is that bioavailable C restricts the growth and activity of soil microorganisms in many ecosystems (Bååth, 2001; Demoling *et al.*, 2007; Kamble *et al.*, 2013). Inputs of labile organic C could relieve this limitation and enhance microbial decomposition of SOM to obtain other nutrients necessary for a balanced growth (Paterson and Sim, 2013). Furthermore, soil microbes require extra-cellular enzymes to decompose SOM (Schimel and Weintraub, 2003) and labile organic C in root exudates can provide the required energy needed for enzyme production (Blagodatskaya and Kuzyakov, 2008; Brzostek *et al.*, 2013)

However, several lab studies have produced results that contradict the view that priming increases with increasing input of labile C. For example, in a study by Cheng (1996), root-derived C from wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) grown in agricultural soil resulted in a 37.3% decrease in SOM decomposition. Similarly, in a study by Rousk *et al.* (2016) a one-time addition of glucose resulted in decreased respiration of SOM the week after the addition. A possible reason is that when microbes have

access to other mineral nutrients, microbial utilization of easily available labile C tends to be preferred over SOM decomposition (Blagodatskaya *et al.*, 2007). This results in decreased decomposition rates, and suggests that nutrients other than C, e.g. N, might have a strong modifying effect on RPE (Paterson and Sim, 2013). Accordingly, in a study by Murphy *et al.* (2017) addition of nutrients (N, P, and K) to soil planted with *Lolium perenne* reduced SOM-C mineralization. Their results suggest that plant-microbial interactions mediate RPE, and that the magnitudes of these effects are moderated by availability of nutrients, e.g. N.

Nitrogen availability can also influence priming indirectly by influencing root exudation rates. Under N limited conditions plants increase root exudation and input of labile C to the soil (Phillips *et al.*, 2009), which can result in increased priming. In soils where N availability limits primary production, priming-induced decomposition of SOM could benefit the plant by enhancing the release of bioavailable N (Nie and Pendall, 2016). In contrast, at high N availability plants are likely to reduce belowground C allocation, even if primary production is high (Warembourg and Esterlich, 2001).

In addition to N availability, microbial requirement for phosphorous (P) could also influence RPE (Dijkstra *et al.*, 2013). The ratio between N and P in the microbial biomass is lower than this ratio in SOM and plant biomass (Cleveland and Liptzin, 2007). Under conditions where microbial activity is limited by N rather than by P, root exudates could enhance microbial N-miming decomposition activities (Dijkstra *et al.*, 2013). On the contrary, when microbial activity is limited by P rather than by N, root exudates could be used for producing hydrolytic enzymes, which releases bioavailable P (Dakora and Phillips, 2002; Dijkstra *et al.*, 2013).

In conclusion, the studies cited above demonstrate that the concentration of C as well as other nutrients can have an influence on priming effects. Variations in the concentration of these nutrients relative to each other can also have an influence on plant-microbial interactions and be of importance for regulating of priming effects, which will be explored in the next section.

C:N stoichiometry

Living cells contain specific amounts of different elements, e.g. C and N. Growth and maintenance of soil microorganisms depends on the availability of C and other nutrients in the required proportion. It is likely that microbial communities will be faced with N limitation under conditions where the C:N ratio of microbially available nutrient sources is much higher than the C:N of the microbial biomass, In contrast, when the soil C:N is much lower than C:N of microbial biomass, the availability of C could limit growth and activity of the soil microbial communities. It is therefore reasonable to suspect that the priming effect is dependent both on the C:N ratio of the "primer", e.g. root exudates, and the SOM being decomposed. To test this hypothesis, Qiao *et al.* (2016) investigated how the C:N ratio of labile substrates and organic matter (leaf litter, wood, organic matter from organic and mineral horizons) influenced priming effects. They found that labile input with a C:N less than 55, induced minor changes in SOM decomposition with only slight differences among the four OM forms. In contrast, labile input with a C:N higher than 55 induced strong negative priming for the organic matter with high C:N ratios and strong positive priming for organic matter with lower C:N ratios. Their results suggest that priming could be predicted from the C:N ratio of the "primer" and the C:N ratio of decomposing SOM.

Environmental changes in the form of higher atmospheric CO_2 concentration could increase labile C input to the soil via enhanced root exudation (Kuzyakov and Cheng, 2001), and increased N deposition (Vitousek *et al.*, 1997; Galloway *et al.*, 2008) could enhance the soil N content. This can influence the balance between the soil C:N ratio, and plant-microbial interactions such as competition for nutrients (Bardgett *et al.*, 2003; Kuzyakov and Xu, 2013), and as mentioned above, SOM decomposition and priming (Qiao *et al.* 2016). Therefore, in order to understand how environmental changes influence soil C stocks and the net flux of C between soil and the atmosphere, we need a better understanding of the role of C:N stoichiometry in regulating RPE.

Temperature and moisture

Only a few studies that have investigated temperature effects on RPE. Zhu and Cheng (2011) investigated how increased temperature influence RPE by sunflower (Helianthus annuus) and soybean (Glycine max) in a sandy loam soil. They used continuous ¹³C-depleted CO₂ labelling in growth chambers and found that Q_{10} of soil respiration ranged between 1.2-1.8 in unplanted soil, and between 2-2.7 in planted soil, implying that the presence of roots increased the temperature sensitivity of SOM decomposition. They further found that RPE caused a 17–163% increase in soil respiration. A possible explanation for higher RPE at higher temperature could be that warming increases root exudation rates. For example, in a study by Yin et al. (2013) a 1.8 – 3.6 °C temperature increase enhanced root exudation rate in Chinese spruce (Picea asperata) by 78.1% on the basis of root biomass, 68.6% on the basis of root length and 55.0% on the basis of root area. Another possible reason to why priming can increase with temperature is that older SOM is likely to be more recalcitrant, and it has been demonstrated that priming mainly enhances the decomposition of SOM that is several years old (Blagodatskaya et al., 2011; Vestergård et al., 2016). Decomposition of recalcitrant SOM requires more energy than decomposition of labile organic compounds (Thornley and Cannell, 2001), and reactions with a higher activation energy respond more strongly

to increased temperature (Arrhenius, 1889). As a result, the sensitivity of more recalcitrant SOM pool to increased temperature is stronger than that of labile organic compounds (Bosatta and Agren 1999).

There are also studies that have found RPE to be insensitive to temperature. For instance, Ghee *et al.* (2013) investigated the effect of warming on RPE by applying ¹³C-enriched glucose daily, and incubating the samples at 15, 20, 25, or 30 °C. They found that basal respiration increased with temperature ($Q_{10} = 1.6$), and that respiration of SOM older than four years was especially sensitive to temperature increases ($Q_{10} = 2.7$). They observed increased SOM-C mineralization in all glucose treatments, but it was that was not sensitive to temperature. Similarly, in a laboratory warming experiment by Hopkins et al. (2014), addition of ¹³C-labelled sucrose resulted in positive priming at all investigated temperatures (5, 15, and 25°C), but the extent of priming was not sensitive to temperature. They suggested that substrate availability restricts priming and not the temperature. Likewise, in a study on the effect of seasonal temperature change (12.8- 22.8 °C) on SOM-C decomposition in unplanted pots and pots planted with cottonwood (Populus fermontii), it was found that while SOM-C mineralization was dependent on temperature in unplanted pots, the same was not the case in planted pots (Bader and Cheng, 2007). The authors suggested that the lack of temperature effect on SOM mineralization in planted pots was due to a strong RPE (102%) that masked the temperature sensitivity of SOM respiration. Taken together, the inconsistent results presented above demonstrate the need for more studies on the temperature effect on RPE. Of particular interest is to separate the effect of temperature on root exudation rates from direct effects of temperature on priming rates.

Soil moisture content as well as drying-rewetting cycles can also have an influence on RPE. Dijkstra and Cheng (2007a) studied the effect of soil moisture (45 and 85 % of field capacity) on SOM decomposition and RPE by performing a greenhouse experiment with sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*) and soybean (*Glycine max*). The higher moisture content on average induced higher positive RPE (up to 76% increase in SOM-C mineralization) than in the lower moisture (up to 52% increase in SOM-C mineralization). The highest priming was for soybean at higher moisture content (110% increase in SOM-C mineralization). The authors suggested that the higher RPE at higher moisture content was linked to increased diffusion efficiency of exudates. However, the effect could also be due to higher extent of root exudation at the higher moisture (Gorissen *et al.*, 2004).

Drying and rewetting of the soil could also influence RPE. In a study by Zhu and Cheng (2013), repeated drying-rewetting reduced RPE (priming of SOM-C mineralization) to 33%, in comparison with 69% under constantly moist conditions, in a soil planted with sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*). Their results suggest that this effect could be due to lower plant biomass and rhizodeposition in the drying-

rewetting treatment. In contrast, in soil planted with soybean (*Glycine max*) dryingrewetting cycles did not change the plant biomass and rhizodeposition, and the magnitude of RPE (priming of SOM-C mineralization) did not differ between constantly moist and after drying-rewetting cycles (82% vs. 85% respectively) (Zhu and Cheng 2013).

Global warming is only one of the ongoing environmental changes that can influence future SOM decomposition rates and soil C stocks. We therefore need to evaluate the combined effects of other environmental factors besides warming, since the combined interactive effect of different environmental factors on SOM decomposition could be different from the effect of each of the single factors alone. For instance, Reinsch *et al* (2013) investigated the effects of elevated CO₂, higher temperature, and drought on priming, as well as combined effect of these factors. They found positive priming (<15% increase in SOM mineralization) in both ambient and elevated CO₂ concentrations but not under the combination of assessed climatic factors. This could suggest that the combined effects of such environmental factors could counterbalance each other and maintain ecosystem stability.

Plant species and physiology

As discussed above, the root exudation rate and soil N concentration appears to be two of the main factors determining the magnitude of priming. It is therefore reasonable to suspect that different plant species induce different priming responses due to variations in e.g. root exudation rates and nutrient uptake from soil. Accordingly, several studies that have investigated RPE using different plant species, grown in the same soil under the same environmental condition, indicate that RPE varies among species (Fu and Cheng, 2002; Dijkstra & Cheng, 2007b; Bengtson et al., 2012; Xu et al., 2018; Yin et al., 2018). For example, the study by Fu and Cheng (2002) demonstrated that soybean (Glycine max) (69.9%) induced higher RPE than sunflower (Triticum aestivum) (69.9% vs. 38.5% increase). Likewise, roots of ponderosa pine (Pinus ponderosa) induced higher RPE than Fremont cottonwood (Populus fremontii) (Dijkstra & Cheng, 2007b). The study by Bengtson et al. (2012) suggested that RPE induced by Sitka spruce (Picea sitchensis, 244%) is consistently higher than the effect induced by ponderosa pine (Picea sitchensis, 156%) or Western hemlock (Tsuga heterophylla, 152%). One reason for these variations could be the effect of physiological differences among plant species, such as plant biomass (Dijkstra et al, 2006), photosynthetic rate (Kuzyakov and Cheng, 2001) and root exudation rates (Bengtson et al., 2012). Since high photosynthesis generally coincides with high root exudation rates, woody plant species cause higher RPE than herbaceous species due to higher primary production and root exudation rates (Cheng et al, 2003; Dijkstra et al., 2006; Bader and Cheng, 2007; Phillips et al., 2011).

Microbial communities involved in priming

The role of different microbial functional groups in priming is not yet clear. It is commonly suggested that priming is the result of uptake and immobilization of labile C by fast-growing microbial r-strategists, which is followed by the emergence of a population of slow-growing oligotrophic decomposers that are responsible for the priming (Fontaine *et al.*, 2003; Fontaine *et al.*, 2011; Perveen *et al.*, 2014). It is usually presumed that the r-strategists consist of bacteria, while K-strategists consist of saprotrophic fungi. However, direct experimental evidence supporting this hypothesis is scarce. Garcia-Pausas and Paterson (2011) found positive priming concurrent with an increase in the uptake of ¹³C-glucose in the microbial specific biomarkers of fungi and actinomycetes, suggesting an important role of these microbial groups in priming. However, there are also studies that have suggested that bacteria are responsible for RPE (Nottingham *et al.*, 2009; Bird *et al.*, 2011), while Rousk *et al.* (2015) found that addition of glucose (0-4000 g⁻¹ C g⁻¹) resulted in a priming effect of up to 300-350% even if there was no clear response of microbial growth associated with the observed priming.

Another microbial functional group that could possibly contribute to priming is mycorrhizal fungi, but the role of mycorrhizal fungi in RPE is not yet clear. Some studies have demonstrated that mycorrhizal fungi may at least play an indirect role in RPE. For example, Kaiser et al. (2014) used ¹³CO₂ labelling to trace the flow of C from wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) to the soil microbial community. Their results suggest that arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) associations enhanced the transfer of recently photo-assimilated C to other soil microorganisms. Since the extent of priming commonly is related to the input rate of labile (see discussion above), AMF associations might therefore result in enhanced priming. Accordingly, a study by Paterson *et al.* (2016) demonstrated that AMF associated with *Lolium perenne* strongly enhanced mineralization of SOM.

Ectomycorrhizal fungi (EMF) might have an even stronger influence on RPE. In a field experiment by Yin *et al.* (2014) it was demonstrated that mass-specific exudation rates from white oak (*Quercus alba*) and American beech (*Fagus grandifolia*), which are associated with EMF, were approximately two times greater than sugar maple (*Acer saccharum Marsh*) and tulip poplar (*Liriodendron tulipifera*), which are associated with AMF. The difference resulted in 67% higher RPE in the soil with EMF-associated plants compared to in soil with AMF-associated plants. However, a possible alternative explanation to the observation that EMF caused higher RPE due to higher exudation rates is that EMF themselves are known to decompose SOM (Brzostek *et al.*, 2013). In contrast, AMF fungi only have limited means to decompose SOM (Veresoglou *et al.*, 2012).

Why priming occurs?

One of the first theories trying to explain priming was the microbial succession theory (Fontaine et al., 2003; Fontaine et al., 2011). As described above this hypothesis suggests that priming is caused by a shift in microbial community composition, such that labile C is first taken up by fast-growing microorganisms (termed as r-strategists). As these microbes turn over, the abundance of slow growing K-strategists microorganisms increases which results in increased SOM decomposition. The theory has been questioned based on evidence that bacteria play a major role in RPE (Nottingham et al., 2009; Bird et al, 2011). Furthermore, as mentioned above priming seems to occur even if there is no evidence of a shift in fungal and bacterial growth (Rousk et al. 2015). Rousk et al. (2015) suggested that priming might rather be the result of increased activity of extracellular enzymes triggered by the input of labile C. This had previously also been suggested by Bengtson et al. (2012), who proposed that labile C input could increase in the activity of SOM degrading oxidative enzymes. These oxidative enzymes, e.g. peroxidases, decompose recalcitrant SOM (Drake et al., 2011), but their activity depends on the supply and regeneration of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). Labile C compounds (e.g. sugars in root exudates) can serve as a substrate for production of H₂O₂ by oxidases (Ander and Marzullo, 1997; Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1999). However, direct evidence in support of this theory is currently lacking.

A more common view is that priming is a result of increased enzyme production (e.g. Hamer and Marschner 2005b), rather than of stimulated enzyme activity. This theory is based in the fact that degradation of SOM relies on extracellular enzymes (Marxsen and Witzel 1991; Allison and Vitousek, 2005), and labile C could supply the energy needed for enzymes synthesis (Schimel and Weintraub, 2003). Accordingly, Asmar et al. (1994) have demonstrated that input of labile C (glucose) accelerates production of dehydrogenase and extracellular proteases, but other studies have not found this to be the case (Geisseler and Horwath, 2008; Wild et al, 2017). A possible reason to the contradictory results might be that priming caused by increased enzyme production can only occur if there is a balanced input of C and N, which is also known as the stoichiometric decomposition hypothesis. This theory predicts that C and N stoichiometry regulates the SOM decomposition, such that provision of C and N in proportions matching the C:N ratio of microbial biomass triggers microbial decomposition activity (Hessen et al., 2004) and priming effects (Drake et al., 2013). In other words, the stoichiometric decomposition hypothesis implies that a balanced availability of C and N induces priming, while microbial nutrient limitation (e.g. N deficiency) decreases microbial decomposition of SOM. However, this is not what is generally observed. In fact, as noted above it seems as if low N availability results in high RPE, which is in line with a theory referred to as the 'microbial N mining' hypothesis (Craine et al., 2007; Fontaine et al., 2011).

This theory suggests that microbial decomposer communities use the labile C input to decompose recalcitrant SOM in order to release N required for growth and activity, while excess C contained in SOM is respired. On the other hand, at high availability of C as well as N, microorganisms switch from SOM decomposition to direct uptake of the available C and N, which might result in negative priming, i.e. reduced SOM decomposition (Cheng, 1999; Blagodatskaya *et al.* 2007). The latter phenomena is referred to as the preferential substrate utilization hypothesis, which implies that soil microbial communities adjust between decomposition of SOM and utilization of more labile C based on the energy cost and nutrients gain of SOM decomposition (Cheng, 1999).

Methods commonly used to study priming

Most priming studies have quantified the priming effect by measuring how soil respiration responds to labile C input (Kuzyakov *et al.* 2000; Cheng *et al.* 2014). Since the measured respiration rate comprises of both SOM-derived CO_2 and CO_2 originating from direct respiration of the labile C input, we need to determine the contribution of the two to sources to the total soil respiration. This is commonly achieved using isotopic techniques (Paterson *et al.* 2009). Below, I have reviewed the most frequently used methods in priming studies.

Methods with plants

Priming studies that includes plants provide a more realistic assessment of priming than methods where labile C compounds are added to unplanted soil. For example, the presence of plant roots accounts for the physical functions of the roots, takes into account the possibility for competition between plants and soil microorganisms for nutrients, as well as the concurrent effects of all different exudates constituents. However, it is also more challenging to control experiments that include plants and separate the multitude of possible effects that roots can have on decomposition rates, besides the effect of root exudation. Furthermore, in studies that include plants priming is usually calculated by subtracting the SOM respiration in unplanted control soil from that in soil containing plant roots. Since the unplanted soil not only lacks input of root exudates, but also is likely to accumulate nutrients and water to a different extent than the planted soil, it can be challenging to separate these effects on soil respiration rates.

Continuous labelling

A common method to quantify priming in the presence of living plant roots is the continuous exposure of the plant shoots to ¹³C-enriched or ¹³C-depleted CO₂ over a period of time (Dijkstra *et al.*, 2006; Dijkstra and Cheng, 2007; Zhu and Cheng, 2011; Pausch *et al*, 2013; Carrillo *et al*, 2014; Zhu *et al.*, 2014). The method allows for calculations of the relative contribution of heterotrophic respiration of SOM and root respiration to the total soil respiration rate, since the two CO₂ sources have a different isotopic (¹³C/¹²C) signature (Eq.1-2):

$$\mathbf{C}_{\text{soil}} = \mathbf{C}_{\text{total}} \left(\delta^{13} \mathbf{C}_{\text{root}} - \delta^{13} \mathbf{C}_{\text{total}} \right) / \left(\delta^{13} \mathbf{C}_{\text{root}} - \delta^{13} \mathbf{C}_{\text{soil}} \right)$$
(Eq. 1)

$$C_{\text{root}} = C_{\text{total}} - C_{\text{soil}}$$
(Eq. 2)

Where C_{total} , C_{soil} and C_{root} are the amounts of total respired C, soil-derived C and root-derived C, respectively. Accordingly, $\delta^{13}C_{total}$, $\delta^{13}C_{soil}$, and $\delta^{13}C_{root}$ are $\delta^{13}C$ values of C from total respiration, soil-derived respiration, and root-derived respiration, respectively. Priming is calculated by subtracting the SOM respiration of unplanted soil (control treatment) from SOM respiration in planted soil (Eq. 3).

$$C_{primed} = C \text{ soil }_{planted} - C \text{ soil }_{unplanted}$$
(Eq. 3)

Where soil planted, C soil unplanted, and C_{primed} represent soil derived-C from the planted treatment, respired C from unplanted soil (control treatment), and primed soil-derived C due to the RPE, respectively.

Pulse labelling

In the pulse labelling technique, plants are pulse-labelled with ¹⁴C-enriched CO₂ (Kuzyakov *et al*, 1999) or ¹³C-enriched CO₂ (Bengtson *et al*, 2012). A few days after labelling, the amount of ¹³C recovered in soil is measured and used to calculate the root exudation rate. Priming is calculated as the difference in SOM decomposition in the treatments with intact plants and the control treatments, where SOM decomposition is assessed by a ¹⁵N pool dilution experiment (Bengtson *et al*. 2012):

$$C_{\text{exuded}} = {}^{13}C_{\text{soil}} \times (t_1/t_2) / (1 - f^{13}C_{\text{lost}})$$
(Eq. 4)

Where C_{exuded} is root C exudation per day, ¹³ C_{soil} is ¹³C content recovered in the soil, and $f^{13}C_{lost}$ is the fraction of ¹³C lost from the soil i.e. by respiration. Duration of daily light period is shown as t_2 (h), and t_1 is 24 (h).

 $C_{assimilated} = N_{assimilated} \times C:N_{microorganisms}$ (Eq. 5)

Where C:N $_{microorganisms}$ is C:N ratio of microbial biomass and assimilated C and N are shown as C $_{assimilated}$ and N $_{assimilated}$, respectively (Eq. 5).

$$SOM_{decomposed} = C_{assimilated} / CUE$$
(Eq. 6)

$$SOM_{primed} = SOM_{decomposed} - SOM_{decomposed in control}$$
(Eq. 7)

SOM _{decomposed} is decomposed SOM and CUE is carbon use efficiency of microorganisms (Eq. 6) and (Eq. 7). Pulse labelling is challenging because it may result in non-uniform labelling of plant C input, and dilution of labelled input with unlabelled plant C could underestimate input of root-derived C to the soil (Kuzyakov, 2002). Moreover, the method relies on several assumptions that can be challenging to verify (Bengtson *et al.*, 2012).

¹³C natural abundance

 C_3 and C_4 plants discriminate against the stable isotope ${}^{13}C$ to a different extent during photosynthesis. Consequently, ${}^{13}C$ values in C_3 plants (approximately $\delta^{13}C - 27\%$) is dissimilar to C_4 plants ($\delta^{13}C - 12\%$) (Smith and Epstein, 1971). Therefore, C_3 plants that grow in a soil with C_4 cultivation background would respire with a different ${}^{13}C$ signature compared to respiration that originates from heterotrophic mineralization of SOM. This means that root respiration can be separated from SOM respiration (Eq. 8 & 9).

$$C_{3} = C_{\text{total}} \left(\delta^{13} C_{\text{total}} - \delta^{13} C_{4} \right) / \left(\delta^{13} C_{3} - \delta^{13} C_{4} \right)$$
(Eq. 8)

$$C_4 = C_{\text{total}} - C_3 \tag{Eq. 9}$$

Where C_{total} , C_3 , and C_4 are the total amount of respired C, respired C from C_3 plant and respired C from C_4 soil, respectively, and $\delta^{13}C_{total}$, $\delta^{13}C_3$, and $\delta^{13}C_4$ are $\delta^{13}C$ values of C from total respiration, root-derived respiration, and soil-derived respiration, respectively. Priming is then calculated by subtracting the SOM respiration of unplanted soil (control treatment) from SOM respiration in planted soil (Eq. 10).

$$C_{\text{primed}} = C_4 - C_4 \text{ (unplanted)}$$
(Eq. 10)

Where C_4 , C_4 (unplanted), and C_{primed} are respired C from C_4 soil, respired C from unplanted soil (control treatment), and primed soil-derived C due to the RPE, respectively.

Many priming studies have used this method (Cheng, 1996; Fu and Cheng, 2002; Cheng *et al.*, 2003). The method is non-invasive and is applicable for partitioning decomposition of recent vs. old SOM C pools during priming, since periodic changes in C₃-C₄ plants cultivation add distinguishable SOM to the soil. For example. Blagodatskaya *et al.* (2011) used this technique in parallel with application of ¹⁴C-labelled substrate to determine the priming effects in old and new SOM pools.

Methods without plants

Priming studies in the absence of plants relies on the addition of ¹³C or ¹⁴C labelled organic compounds representative of compounds in root exudates (Hamer and Marschner, 2005a, 2005b; Nottingham *et al.*, 2009). Calculation of SOM-derived CO₂ compared to respiration of the added substrates is distinguished using the same isotopic mixing models described above, and priming calculated as the difference in SOM respiration in treatments with and without substrate addition. Experiments using these methods are easy to control and convenient for testing new hypotheses. However, they are less realistic than methods with living plant roots.

Objectives of thesis

The objectives of my thesis were to:

- Assess how variations in C and N availability influence priming
- Determine how priming influences depolymerization of nitrogenous organic compounds, gross N mineralization, and plant N availability
- Determine if priming mainly stimulates the oxidative decomposition of complex SOM in order to release bioavailable C and N compounds, or alternatively, if priming is the result of increased production of hydrolytic enzymes that decompose bioavailable C and N compounds
- Determine how elevated CO₂ concentration and N fertilization influence root exudation rates and priming of C and N mineralization
- Test the effect of different light intensity on root exudation and RPE to in different plant species

Hypotheses and approaches of studies

In my first study (**Paper I**), I applied a semi-continuous addition of different concentrations of C (13 C-labelled glucose) and inorganic N (ammonium) to the soil via artificial roots (**Fig. 2**).



Figure 2. Microcosms consisted of plexiglass boxes containing 250 g soil. Solution containing C and N substrate was transferred to the soil through artificial roots (Paper I).

I investigated how variations in C and N input to the soil influences the extent to which priming is manifested as increased gross protein depolymerization, gross N mineralization, and SOM respiration. I hypothesized that priming is the result of microbial N mining, which enhances the release and uptake of N by soil microorganisms. The hypothesis was tested by measuring gross protein depolymerization, gross amino acid consumption, and gross N mineralization and immobilization. I also investigated how C and N availability influences the abundance of microbial decomposer groups and "cheaters" that do not decompose SOM. For that, I used 96-well MT2 microplates (Biolog, Inc., Hayward, CA, USA) prepared with C substrates of varying recalcitrance. Finally, I aimed at examining if priming mainly stimulates the oxidative decomposition of complex SOM in order to release bioavailable C and N compounds. This was tested by adding a mixture of bioavailable C and N substrates (cellulose, starch, and protein: CSP) to the soil. If

priming mainly enhances oxidative decomposition of recalcitrant SOM to release less recalcitrant compounds, e.g. proteins and carbohydrates, then we would expect priming to be less pronounced under conditions where the concentration of such compounds is high. Conversely, if priming occurs as the result of increased production of hydrolytic enzymes that decompose proteins and carbohydrates, then we would expect priming to be more pronounced where the concentration of such compounds is high.

In my second study (**Paper II**), we studied the effect of soil C and N availability on C and N mineralization and gross depolymerization in a set of boreal forest soils. We hypothesized that an increase in C availability would facilitate the microbial investment in extracellular enzymes that target N-rich SOM polymers and thus promote protein depolymerization, overall leading to higher soil N availability, but also a higher mineralization of SOM-C. I expected that an increase in N availability would have the opposite effects. I further hypothesized that the magnitude of the response to C or N addition would depend on the initial balance between C and N availability in the soil, with strongest C effects where C availability was low, and strongest N effects where N availability was low. I altered soil C or N availability by adding C (¹³C-labelled glucose) and inorganic N (ammonium) and monitored the release of CO₂ derived from the soil and added substrate over the course of one week. At the end of the incubation, I determined gross rates of protein depolymerization and ammonification using ¹⁵N pool dilution assays. I also measured extractable soil C and N pools, microbial biomass, and potential activities of a range of extracellular enzymes involved in the breakdown of different C- and N-rich SOM polymers.

In my third study (**Paper III**), I carried out a one-week incubation experiment on six forest soils with different C:N ratios to investigate the effect of soil C:N ratio on the priming of C and N caused by labile C addition (semi-continuous ¹³C-labelled glucose addition). I aimed to test if (1) priming of SOM respiration is a result of microbial N mining, and if priming is higher in soils with low N availability (high soil C:N ratio). (2) Priming is caused by an increase in the concentration of C-targeting extracellular enzymes in C-poor soils, and an increase in the concentration of N targeting extracellular enzymes in N-poor soils. (3) The labile C input in soils with unbalanced C:N ratio (dissimilar to microbial C and N requirements) increases the abundance of microbes that decompose more complex SOM.

In this study, the respiration rate was continuously measured using a Picarro analyzer (**Fig. 3**). I also measured the potential activity of a range of hydrolytic and oxidative extracellular enzymes at the end of the incubation, to test the links between priming and potential activity of C and N acquiring extracellular enzymes. Finally, I used a MT2 microplate assay to study the abundance of microbes decomposing substrates of different recalcitrance. As a complementary method, the ¹³C-labelled

glucose substrate was dissolved in deuterium-labelled deionized water. This enabled us to carry out a novel double labelling approach for microbial community analysis (¹³C-D PLFA) to assess which microbial groups relied on the labile C input (¹³Clabelled) and SOM (deuterium-labelled).



Figure 3. PVC microcosms containing soil were connected to Picarro analyzer (G2131-i) through PTFE tubes (Paper III).

In my first priming study with intact plants (**Paper IV**), I aimed to test the effect of light intensity on RPE induced by Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), which are known to have dissimilar light saturation point (LSP) and light compensation point (LCP). I used a ¹³CO₂ pulse-chase experiment to estimate plant photosynthesis as well as exudation rate. In addition, I used ¹⁵N pool-dilution method to measure priming of SOM decomposition and N mineralization. I also measured bacterial and fungal growth rates to investigate possible links between RPE and soil microbial growth.

In my last study (**Paper V**), I aimed to quantify the influence of elevated CO₂ and N fertilization on the root exudation rate, microbial growth and priming of C and N mineralization, in a soil planted with Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). I hypothesized that elevated CO₂ increases root exudation rates. To test the hypothesis I exposed the seedlings to ambient (400 ppm) and elevated CO₂ concentration (600 ppm) for one week (**Fig. 4a**). I also aimed to tease out how the presumed increase in root exudation rate at elevated CO₂ concentration influence priming at different N concentrations, which was achieved by adding two different levels of N fertilizer. I used the ¹³C pulse-labelling method to determine the photosynthesis and soil respiration (using a Picarro analyzer **Fig. 4b**). Gross N mineralization was measured using the ¹⁵N pool dilution method. The root exudation, SOM decomposition, and priming were calculated as in Bengtson *et al.* (2012), using Eq. 4-7. Plant material

was harvested and analyzed to investigate how RPE is linked to plant N uptake, and vice versa.



Figure 4. a) Seedlings were kept under controlled moisture, CO₂ concentration, and light intensity. b) ¹³C pulse-labelling using plexiglass boxes connected to Picarro analyzer (Paper V).

Methodology

This section provides a short overview of the methods that I used to address the hypotheses in the different studies.

Soil respiration measurement

The effect of labile C input on C mineralization was estimated by measuring soil respiration. Since the measured respiration rate comprise of both SOM-derived CO₂ and CO₂ originating from direct respiration of the labile C input, I used isotope techniques to determine the contribution of each of the two sources in the total soil respiration. In my first three studies (**Paper I-III**), ¹³C-labelled glucose was added to soil to simulating root exudation. In **Paper I & II**, I periodically collected gas samples from mesocosms to estimate the respiration rate. In **Paper III**, I performed continuous respiration measurement using a Picarro system connected to the microcosms. In my greenhouse experiments (**Paper IV & Paper V**), I used ¹³CO₂-pulse labelling technique to measure photosynthetic C assimilation by seedlings and soil respiration using Picarro system.

Gross N transformation rates

One of the objectives in my priming studies was to test the effect of labile C input on gross N transformation rates. Gross N mineralization was measured using the ¹⁵N-pool dilution technique as described in Davidson *et al.* (1991). This method is based on addition of a small amount of ¹⁵N (usually ammonium) to the soil, followed by extraction of mineral N immediately (T0) and after a specific time (T1, usually one day). Gross N mineralization is then calculated based on the concentration and the isotopic signature of mineral N in the extracted mineral N pool between the two time points using the FLUAZ model (Mary *et al.*, 1998) (**Paper I, IV & V**) or the method proposed by Kirkham and Bartholomew (1954) (**Paper II**).

A large proportion of soil N is contained within nitrogenous organic compounds of varying recalcitrance (i.e. proteins), which only become available for plants and

microbial uptake after depolymerization. Consequently, depolymerization of nitrogenous organic compounds to monomers is considered the rate-limiting step in soil N turnover (Schimel and Bennett, 2004; Jan *et al.*, 2009). In **Paper I & II**, I estimated protein depolymerization rate using the ¹⁵N pool dilution technique as described by Wanek *et al.* (2010). The method is based on the same principle as the gross N mineralization assay described above, except that the ¹⁵N labelled-N source consists of a mixture of twenty ¹⁵N-labelled amino acids.

Fungal and bacterial growth rate

The ³H-leucine incorporation technique was used to estimate the bacterial growth rate (**Paper IV & Paper V**). This technique is based on the incorporation of the radioactive precursor amino acid (³H-leucine) in bacterial macromolecules produced during a specific time (Bååth, 1994; Bååth *et al*, 2001). A bacterial suspension is produced by homogenization and centrifugation. After addition of the radioactive precursor molecules, the suspension is incubated (2h). Thereafter, the unincorporated leucine is removed by a series of washing steps, and the radioactivity of the samples is measured via a scintillation counter. The amount of ³H-leucine incorporation indicates bacterial growth rate.

I used ¹⁴C-acetate incorporation into ergosterol (Bååth, 2001) to estimate fungal growth rate in the soil (**Paper III & Paper V**).Since ergosterol is a fungal specific lipid sterol; ergosterol production rate can be used to estimate the fungal growth rate. Briefly, after addition of the precursor molecules to the soil suspension, samples were incubated (4h) and then ergosterol was extracted. The radioactivity of the extracts was measured in a scintillation counter to estimate ¹⁴C-acetate incorporation into the fungal biomass as an index for fungal growth.

Microbial community analyses

Phospholipid fatty acids

Phospholipids exist in all living cells but different subsets of the soil microbial community contain different fatty acids in their phospholipids. This fact is frequently used to estimate the abundance of different groups of microorganisms in soil. Stable isotope probing can be used to investigate the incorporation of a labelled marker into different microbial phospholipids fatty acids (PLFAs) (Nottingham *et al.*, 2009; Yao *et al.*, 2015). In **Paper III**, I used ¹³C-labelled glucose and deuterium-labelled deionized water as substrates, which enabled me to estimated incorporation

of ¹³C and deuterium (D) into microbial PLFAs. The aim was assessing to which extend different microbial groups rely on labile C and SOM for growth. I expected microbes that assimilate D without assimilating ¹³C in their PLFA to benefit and be responsible for priming

MT2 microplate

In **paper I** & **Paper III**, I determined the abundance of microbes growing on substrates of varying recalcitrance using MT2 microplates (Biolog, Inc., Hayward, CA, USA), where colorimetrical changes of a tetrazolium violet dye contained in the plate-wells indicate microbial utilization of the provided substrate. Briefly, I prepared the wells with C substrates according to the instruction by the manufacturer (Biolog Inc., 1993). Following repeated measurements of the well color development, parameters of the microbial growth curve were then used to estimate the abundance of microbes growing on each substrate. A more detailed description of the calculations is provided in **Paper I & Paper III**.

Potential activity of extracellular enzymes

Microbial decomposition activities in the soil are catalyzed by extracellular enzymes. In Paper II & Paper III, the potential activity of hydrolytic extracellular enzymes including cellobiosidase (CB, targeting cellulose), ß-glucosidase (BG, targeting cellulose), N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminidase (NAG, targeting chitin and peptidoglycan), and leucine-aminopeptidase (LAP, targeting proteins and peptides) was measured using fluorometric and photometric methods modified after Kaiser et al. (2010). The potential activity of hydrolytic enzymes was measured fluorometrically by adding fluorometrically labelled substrates to one set of aliquots in four replicates for each soil and enzyme. We used 4- methylumbelliferyl- β -Dcellobiosidase for cellobiosidase, 4-methylumbelliferyl- β -D-glucopyranoside for β -glucosidase, 4-methylumbelliferyl-N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminide for N-acetyl β -D-glucosaminidase, and L-leucine-7-amido-4-methylcoumarin for leucineaminopeptidase). Dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) was used to measure the potential activity of phenoloxidase, and, DOPA in combination with H₂O₂ to measure the potential peroxidase activity. The potential C-acquiring enzymes activity were calculated as the sum of the activities of CB and BG and the potential N-acquiring enzymes activities were calculated as the sum of the activities of NAG and LAP. We also calculated the ratio between C and N acquiring enzymes as the ratio between natural logarithm of C and N acquiring enzymes as in Sinsabaugh et al. (2008).

Main findings

The effects of C and N availability on priming

If RPE is the result of labile C input to soil, it is reasonable to assume that the extent of priming is related to the extent of labile C input. Accordingly, in **Paper I**, I observed that glucose additions resulted in increased respiration of native SOM, but a strong positive response of SOM respiration to glucose addition (up to 10 times increase) only occurred at the highest glucose addition rate. This is in line with other studies that found a positive link between SOM decomposition and labile C input (Qiao *et al.*, 2014, Liu *et al.*, 2017, Bengtson *et al.*, 2012, Paterson and Sim, 2013; Rousk *et al.*, 2015). In **Paper II**, glucose addition did not increase SOM respiration. Likewise, changes in SOM respiration was not related to the root exudation rate in **Paper IV & Paper V**.

In **Paper I**, I hypothesized that priming is the result of microbial N mining (Craine *et al.*, 2007; Fontaine *et al.*, 2011), which enhances the release and uptake of N by soil microorganisms. My results to some extent supported this hypothesis. For instance, when the soil received high concentrations of glucose in combination with inorganic N priming of SOM respiration was less pronounced. However, the results further suggested that priming is not always an N mining response, but rather a result of microbial decomposition of SOM to release the currently deficient nutrient, irrespective of whether the deficient nutrient is C or N. If this is the case and microbial decomposition of SOM could potentially be predicted by the soil C:N ratio. To test this we measured priming and SOM decomposition in soils with different C:N ratios (**Paper III**). The results showed that glucose additions induced positive priming (12-52% increase in SOM respiration) in all soil types (C:N =11.5-22), but there was no linear relationship between priming and soil C:N ratio.

Contrary to other studies that have suggested that the soil C:N ratio could be an important regulator of the priming effect (Wang *et al.*, 2015; Qiao *et al.*, 2016), my results suggest that the soil C:N ratio is not a good measure for predicting priming. I instead found that priming of SOM decomposition was negatively correlated to the microbial C:N ratio (**Fig 5a**) and positively linked to the C:N imbalance, where a higher C:N imbalance implies stronger microbial N limitation (**Fig. 5b**). The C:N

imbalance, which considers both microbial nutrient demand and nutrient provision, is therefore a better predictor of SOM decomposition than the soil C:N ratio. It has also been suggested that the soil C:N ratio is a poor predictor of N-fluxes associated with SOM decomposition (Murphy *et al.*, 2015). A possible reason is that soils with similar C:N ratio could have dissimilar active microbial communities, which induces different microbial demand for nutrients. For instance, higher C:N ratio could favors fungi over bacteria, since fungi are known to have higher biomass C:N ratio (Wallenstein *et al.*, 2006) and higher C use efficiency (Six *et al.*, 2006) than bacteria. Therefore, the fungal C:N imbalance could be expected to be lower than the bacterial C:N imbalance in a soil with high C:N ratio.



Figure. 5. The relationship between the microbial C:N ratio and cumulative priming and (a) and the relationship between the C:N imbalance and cumulative priming (b). Figure from Paper III.

The role of protein depolymerization in priming

I further tested if priming of SOM decomposition is a result of microbial N mining by measuring the protein depolymerization rate, which I expected to increase if that was the case (**Paper I & Paper II**). In **Paper I**, glucose additions increased the gross protein depolymerization rate, the microbial amino acid uptake, and the microbial retention of amino acid N in the biomass, but different indicators of microbial decomposition activities, i.e. SOM respiration, gross protein depolymerization and gross N mineralization, were poorly correlated. In **Paper II**, the protein depolymerization did not increase although glucose addition promoted microbial growth and N demand. The latter suggests that the soil microorganisms immobilized the already available N more efficiently, as suggested by the observations that gross N mineralization rates and inorganic N concentrations decreased. Taken together the results from **Paper I** and **Paper II** suggest that can cope with N deficiency both by increasing the production of bioavailable N, e.g. ammonium and amino acids, and by using the available N more efficiently.

The role of oxidative and hydrolytic enzymes and different functional microbial groups in priming

Decomposition of SOM depends on extracellular enzymes produced by microorganisms (Marxsen and Witzel 1991; Allison and Vitousek, 2005). Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that priming of SOM decomposition is facilitated by microbial investment of labile C input in extracellular enzymes that target SOM compounds. An emerging question is what role hydrolytic and oxidative enzymes play in priming. I tried to answer this question using two approaches. In the first approach, I measured the potential activity (concentration) of hydrolytic and oxidative extracellular enzymes. In contrast to previous studies (Brzostek et al., 2013), glucose addition to the soil did not influenced the potential extracellular enzyme activities in **Paper II**, even though the glucose input promoted microbial growth and N demand. In Paper III, there was no difference in the concentration of oxidative enzymes in the glucose and control treatment, but there was a positive relationship between the potential oxidative enzyme activity and SOM respiration in both the glucose and control treatment. While the slope of the linear relationship between the potential oxidative enzyme activity and SOM respiration was the same in both treatments, respiration of SOM was consistently higher in glucose-amended samples (Fig. 6). These results suggest that glucose addition resulted in priming by stimulating the activity rather than the concentration of oxidative enzymes, as previously proposed (Bengtson et al., 2012, Rousk et al., 2015).



Figure. 6. The relationship between total potential activity oxidative enzymes (Peroxidase+ phenoloxidase) and soil C:N ratio (a) and the relationship between SOM respiration and total potential activity oxidative enzymes (b) at the end of the one-week incubation period. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. Figure from Paper III.

In **Paper I**, I tested if priming mainly stimulates the oxidative decomposition of complex SOM using another approach, where I added a mixture of bioavailable C and N substrates (cellulose, starch, and protein: CSP) to the soil. If priming mainly enhances oxidative decomposition of recalcitrant SOM to release less recalcitrant compounds, e.g. proteins and carbohydrates, then I expected priming to be less pronounced under conditions where the concentration of such compounds is high. Conversely, if priming occurs as the result of increased production of hydrolytic enzymes that decompose proteins and carbohydrates, then I expected priming to be more pronounced where the concentration of such compounds is high.

Glucose addition induced a strong priming effect (up to 10 times increase) on SOM respiration in non-amended soil. At the same time I only observed a small increase in SOM respiration by glucose addition in the CSP treatment, which support our hypothesis that oxidative decomposition play an important role in priming. However, different indicators of microbial decomposition activities, i.e. SOM respiration, gross protein depolymerization and gross N mineralization, responded differently to the glucose additions. While I only observed a weak response in SOM respiration by glucose addition in CSP treatment, gross N mineralization rates responded more strongly to glucose additions in this treatment compared to the non-amended soil.

Glucose addition increased the abundance of microbes decomposing lignin, while the opposite effect was observed when glucose was added in combination with inorganic N (**Fig. 7**). These results imply that priming at least in part is related to the abundance of lignin decomposers, and suggest that an imbalanced C to N supply selects for the trait of being able to release the deficient nutrient by decomposing complex SOM, regardless if the deficient nutrient is C or N. The importance of C:N imbalances for regulating decomposer abundance and priming effects are also in line with my findings in **Paper III**.



Figure. 7. Abundance of the soil microbes (*N0re*l) growing on lignin, after 12 day of incubation period with C (glucose) and inorganic N addition in native soil treatment (a) and in the soil pre-incubated with CSP (b). Error bars represent standard errors of the mean. Figure from Paper I.

The effect of elevated CO₂ and N fertilization on RPE

Another important factor influencing photosynthesis and plant belowground C allocation is the concentration of CO₂. Increased input of labile C into the soil under elevated CO₂ concentration can increase SOM decomposition and reduce the soil C stocks (Van Groenigen *et al.*, 2014). In **Paper V**, I tested the effects of CO₂ and N fertilization on priming. Elevated CO₂ or N fertilization did not induce any significant change in the root exudation rate expressed per gram soil, but elevated CO₂ increased the root exudation rate per gram dry root. When plants were exposed to elevated CO₂ in combination with N fertilization this increase was suppressed to the initial level. These findings are in line with previous observation that elevated CO₂ enhances the root exudation rate, while N addition has the opposite effect (Phillips *et al.*, 2009).

In **Paper V**, positive priming of SOM decomposition only occurred at the highest N fertilization (**Fig. 8a**, while priming of N mineralization occurred also at the lowest N-fertilization level, but only at ambient CO₂ (**Fig. 8b**). Priming of N mineralization was absent or slightly negative in the elevated CO₂ treatment,

regardless of the N-fertilization level. That is, contrary to what I expected the priming effect was higher in the ambient CO_2 treatment than in the elevated CO_2 treatment. I suggest that these patterns are caused by plant-microbial competition for N, since I could not link the observed priming to the root exudation rate.



Figure. 8. SOM-C priming (a) and priming of N mineralization. No, low, and high level of N addition is abbreviated to NN, LN, and HN, respectively. Error bars represent 85% CI (n=8). Figure from Paper V.

I further observed that elevated CO_2 in combination with N addition increased photosynthesis (**Fig. 9a**), but also the gross respiration rate to an even greater extent (plant and microbial respiration combined; **Fig. 9b**). The increase in gross respiration could to a large extent be linked to increased microbial decomposition of SOM. These findings suggest that it is not always the case that elevated CO_2 and higher N availability result in higher C sequestration in the soil (Yue *et al.*, 2016), and that the combined effect of elevated CO_2 and N fertilization on the microbial decomposition of stable SOM pools needs to be considered before such forest management practices are proposed.



Figure. 9. Photosynthetic C assimilation (a), and gross respiration (b), in treatments incubated at different concertation of CO₂ and different levels of N fertilizer addition. No, low, and high level of N addition is abbreviated to NN, LN, and HN, respectively. Error bars represent standard errors (n=8). Figure from Paper V.

The effect of light intensity on root exudation and RPE

Plant photosynthetic intensity is one of the main factors controlling belowground C allocation and root exudation (Högberg et al., 2001; Kuzyakov and Cheng, 2001). In **Paper IV**, I estimated the root exudation rate in seedlings of two plant species (pine and spruce). Spruce is known to have lower light saturation point (LSP) and lower light compensation point (LCP). I expected that spruce seedlings, due their wider range of photosynthetic adaptability, could have higher root exudation rate than pine seedlings, especially at low light intensity. When the seedlings were exposed to low and high light intensities (60 vs. 230 µmol·m-2·s-1±10), the results showed the opposite. Pine seedlings kept at low light intensity had the highest root exudation rate. Even so, priming of C and N mineralization was higher in spruceplanted soil than in pine planted soil. Moreover, low light intensity induced stronger positive priming effects in spruce-planted soil, and stronger negative priming in pine planted soil (Fig. 10a). A possible reason for the negative priming in the pineplanted soil could be plant-microbial competition for N (Yin et al., 2018). Accordingly, both the gross N mineralization and inorganic N concentration was lower in the pine-planted soil than in the spruce-planted soil (Fig. 10b). A possible reason to why stronger competition could occur under low light conditions is that shaded seedlings invest more in belowground plant parts and symbionts, in order to benefit from transfer of C and other nutrients from larger trees (Simard et al., 1997; Teste *et al.*, 2010; Beiler *et al.*, 2010). I therefore suggest that competition for N between roots and microbes (possibly mediated by ectomycorrhizal fungi) could be the reason for the differences between plant species and for the stronger RPE found in the low light treatment.



Figure. 10. Priming of SOM decomposition (a) and priming of N mineralization (b) in the soil with pine or spruce seedlings under two levels of light intensities. P represents the pine and S represents the spruce. H represents the high level of light intensity (230 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹±10) and L represents the low level of light intensity (60 μ mol·m⁻²·s⁻¹±10). Error bars represents the 85% CI. Figure from Paper IV

Conclusion

One of the main challenges for predicting soil and vegetation feedbacks to changing climate is uncertainties regarding the extent to which SOM decomposition responds to environmental changes (Davidson and Janssens, 2006; Schuur *et al*, 2015). RPE is one of the fundamental processes that controls SOM decomposition and has could provide an important feedback to the global C cycle. However, the controlling factors, underlying molecular mechanisms and microorganisms involved in RPE are still not fully understood. In my studies, I studied some of the factors regulating RPE, with the focus on the effect of C:N stoichiometry on priming of soil C and N mineralization.

In this thesis, I performed experiments without plants (**Paper I-III**) and experiments with plants (**Paper IV & Paper V**) to investigate the effects of variations in C and N availability on potential activities of extracellular enzymes, the abundance of different microbial decomposer groups, and priming of SOM decomposition, gross N mineralization, and gross protein depolymerization. The main findings of my thesis are:

- The soil C:N ratio is a poor predictor of priming. Instead, my findings suggest that the C:N imbalance (soil C:N divided by microbial biomass C:N) could better predict microbial SOM decomposition and priming
- An imbalanced C to N supply could select for the microbial trait of being able to release the deficient nutrient (C or N) by decomposing SOM
- Priming is stimulated by the activity rather than the concentration of extracellular enzymes
- C to N imbalances induces priming by enhancing the abundance of microbes that are able to decompose complex SOM such as lignin
- Soil microbes could also meet the increased N demand caused by C input by using the available N more efficiently, suggesting that plant C input might aggravate N limitation by promoting microbial N sequestration

Outlook

My studies provided insights into N transformation rates and the regulation of protein depolymerization (**Paper I & Paper II**). I observed that SOM respiration responded in a different way to the C inputs than microbial protein depolymerization, amino acid uptake, and N mineralization. These findings suggest that to estimate priming-induced SOM decomposition and nutrient release in terrestrial environments, we need to move beyond respiration measurements when quantifying priming. Thus, I suggest that indicators of microbial decomposition activities such as gross N mineralization and protein depolymerization should be taken into consideration in future priming studies.

My findings further suggest that the activity of oxidative enzymes limits the decomposition of SOM, and that labile C input could cause priming by increasing the activity of these enzymes (**Paper III**). A possible reason for this could be that the activity of oxidative enzymes is limited by regeneration of H_2O_2 (Bengtson *et al*, 2009), and a labile C substrates like glucose could function as a substrate for H_2O_2 production (Ander and Marzullo, 1997; Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1999). Since the activity of oxidative enzyme systems is considered to be the regulatory step in the decomposition of recalcitrant SOM (Perez *et al.*, 2002), stimulation of H_2O_2 production in response to labile C input might be the main mechanism that results in priming. There is still a need for further studies that could test if this is the case.

I observed that elevated CO_2 concertation increased root exudation rate (per gram dry root), while the combined effect of N addition and elevated CO_2 suppressed this rise back to initial level (**Paper V**). I also found that the same root exudation could induce markedly different priming responses. These findings, together with the intricate effect of light intensity on RPE in different plant species (**Paper IV**), calls for further research on the effect CO_2 , N deposition and light intensity on plant-microbial interactions and RPE.

/

Acknowledgements

I had the privilege to study at Lund University, where I met many amazing people during the course of my PhD. I would like to thank all those who contributed to this work, and those who supported me during the years that I have lived in Sweden.

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, **Per Bengtson**, not only for his precious scientific support of my studies, but also for his patience, immense motivation, and for all I have learned from him during these years. Per, it has always been a joy to work with you.

I am grateful to my co-supervisor, **Per Persson**, my supportive examiner, **Anders Tunlid**, and to, **Erland Bååth**, **Håkan Wallander**, **Pål Axel**, and **Tomas Johansson** for their kindness support, and advices.

Johannes Rousk, your energy and enthusiasm for research was encouraging. You always had some answers for my questions. Thanks for our nice discussions and for being a wonderful colleague.

Birgit, **Kristiina**, **Tobias**, and **Marcin**, thank you very much for your support and contributions to this work. I really learned a lot from working with you.

Jian, it was a pleasure to work with you on our interesting experiments. I was lucky to have colleagues like you and **Moyan** during the intense days of our greenhouse experiments. I wish you the best with the continuation of your studies.

Jan Öberg, and Christina Spännar, I am so grateful to be a member of such a wonderful Swedish family. You have proven to be my real friends for all seasons and our friendship means a lot to me. I also appreciate that I met great people like Tilda, and Carin through your friendship. Thanks for being so kind and amazing.

Kristin R, thanks for being a nice officemate. Whenever I had questions or new ideas, you were interested in discussing them.

Lettice, I am grateful that I had you as an officemate this year. You were caring and asking if I needed any help and you were always helpful.

Anna, I am so happy that you started working at the university again. You have a good heart and you are a wonderful colleague.

Firoz, Tao, Michiel, and Tian, when I did not expect to see anyone in the department on holidays, or in the middle of the night, I still could see you hardworking scientists.

Ainara, and Kristin A, your presence with happiness and positivity was encouraging.

Carlos, you always have some interesting and challenging philosophical questions in your mind.

Margarida, and **Dimitri**, my happy office neighbors, thank you for being always inspiring, kind and supportive.

Juan Pablo, we always call each other amigo and you are truly a great friend of mine

Micaela, I can't thank you enough for your recent helps. You are a scientist and an artist. I wish you the best with your studies.

Eva, you were the only person speaking Swedish to me at work and I have missed our nice conversations.

I am grateful to our fellows in the ecology building especially amazing Lotta, , Jürgen, Sofia, Galina, Ann, Elin, and Hamid

Turaj, I wish that everyone could have someone like you. You are the one who listens and cares by heart. Your wise advices and your warm company have given me confidence during these years.

Mohammad, we met on my first days in Sweden and during all these years, you had been a real friend to me. I appreciate your kindness and benevolence

Ali, Mehdi, Milad, and Behrouz I know that your doors are the ones that I can knock whenever I feel alone.

Amo Behzad, you have always been my role model. I am so proud of you. Thank you for inspiring me in life.

Last but not least, thanks to my beloved **family**, especially my father who is everything to me. I feel extremely lucky to have the best father in the world. **Baba**, I wish you a life full of health and happiness.

References

- Allison, S., & Vitousek, P., 2005. Responses of extracellular enzymes to simple and complex nutrient inputs. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 937-944.
- Arrhenius, S. 1889. Uber die Reakionsgeschwindigkeit bei der Inversion von Rohrzuckerdurch Sauren. Zeitschrift fuer physikalische Chemie 4, 226-248.
- Asmar, F., Eiland, F., Nielsen, N., 1994. Effect of extracellular-enzyme activities on solubilization rate of soil organic nitrogen. Biology and Fertility of Soils 17, 32-38.
- Ander, P., and Marzullo, L., 1997. Sugar oxidoreductases and veratryl alcohol oxidase as related to lignin degradation. Journal of Biotechnology, 53, 115-131.
- Bader, N., Cheng, W., 2007. Rhizosphere priming effect of Populus fremontii obscures the temperature sensitivity of soil organic carbon respiration. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 600-606.
- Bais, H. P., Weir, T. L., Perry, L. G., Gilroy, S., Vivanco, J. M., 2006. The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annual Reviews of Plant Biology 57, 233–266.
- Bardgett, R. D., Streeter, T. C., and Bol, R. 2003. Soil microbes compete effectively with plants for organic nitrogen inputs to temperate grasslands, Ecology 84, 1277–1287.
- Beiler K. J., Durall, D. M., Simard, S.W., Maxwell, S.A., Kretzer, A.M., 2010. Mapping the wood-wide web: mycorrhizal networks link multiple Douglas-fir cohorts New Phytologist, 185: 543-553.
- Bengtson, P., Bastviken, D., de Boer, W., and Oberg, G., 2009. Possible role of reactive chlorine in microbial antagonism and organic matter chlorination in terrestrial environments. Environmental Microbiology, 11, 1330–1339.
- Bengtson, P., Barker, J., and Grayston, S. 2012. Evidence of a strong coupling between root exudation, C and N availability, and stimulated SOM decomposition caused by rhizosphere priming effects, Ecology and Evolution 2, 1843-1852.
- Bertin, C., Yang, X., and Weston, L., 2003. The role of root exudates and allelochemicals in the rhizosphere, Plant and Soil 256, 67–83.
- Biolog, Instructions for use of Biolog MT plates. Biolog Inc. Hayward, California, USA, 1993.
- Bird, J., Herman, D., Firestone, M., 2011. Rhizosphere priming of soil organic matter by bacterial groups in a grassland soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 718-725.
- Blagodatskaya, E. V., Blagodatsky, S.A., Anderson, T. H., and Kuzyakov, Y., 2007. Priming effects in chernozem induced by glucose and N in relation to microbial growth strategies, Applied Soil Ecology 37, 95-105.

- Blagodatskaya, E., Kuzyakov, Y. 2008. Mechanisms of real and apparent priming effects and their dependence on soil microbial biomass and community structure: critical review. Biology and Fertility of Soils 45, 115-131.
- Blagodatskaya, E., Yuyukina, T., Blagodatsky, S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2011. Three-sourcepartitioning of microbial biomass and of CO₂ efflux from soil to evaluate mechanisms of priming effects. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 778-786.
- Bosatta, E., Ågren, G.I., 1999. Soil organic matter quality interpreted thermodynamically. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 31, 1889-1891.
- Brzostek, E. R., Greco, A., Drake, J. E., and Finzi, A. C., 2013. Root carbon inputs to the rhizosphere stimulate extracellular enzyme activity and increase nitrogen availability in temperate forest soils, *Biogeochemistry*, Springer *115*, 65–76.
- Bradshaw, C. J., Warkentin, I. G., Sodhi, N. S. 2009. Urgent preservation of boreal carbon stocks and biodiversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 24, 541–548.
- Bradshaw, C. J., Warkentin, I. G. 2015. Global estimates of boreal forest carbon stocks and flux, Global and Planetary Change, Elsevier 128, 24-30.
- Bååth, E., 1994. Thymidine and leucine incorporation in soil bacteria with different cell size, Microbial Ecology 27, 267-278.
- Bååth, E. 2001. Estimation of fungal growth rates in soil using ¹⁴C-acetate incorporation into ergosterol, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 33, 2011-2018.
- Bååth E, Pettersson, M., and Söderberg, K. H., 2001. Adaptation of a rapid and economical microcentrifugation method to measure thymidine and leucine incorporation by soil bacteria. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 1571-1574.
- Carney K. M., Hungate, B.A., Drake B. G., Megonigal, J.P., 2007. Altered soil microbial community at elevated CO₂ leads to loss of soil carbon. PNAS, 104, 4990–4995.
- Carrillo, Y., Dijkstra, F., Pendall, E., Le Cain, D., Tucker, C., 2014. Plant rhizosphere influence on microbial C metabolism: the role of elevated CO₂, N availability and root stoichiometry. Biogeochemistry 117, 229-240.
- Cheng, W., 1996. Measurement of rhizosphere respiration and organic matter decomposition using natural ¹³C. Plant and Soil 183, 263-268.
- Cheng, W., 1999. Rhizosphere feedbacks in elevated CO₂. Tree Physiol. 19, 313–320.
- Cheng, W., Johnson D, Fu, S., 2003. Rhizosphere Effects on decomposition: controls of plant species, phenology, and fertilization. Soil Science Society of America Journal 67, 1418-1427.
- Cheng, W., Parton, W., Gonzalez-Meler, M., Phillips, R., Asao, S., McNickle, G., Brzostek, E., Jastrow, J., 2014. Synthesis and modeling perspectives of rhizosphere priming. New Phytologist 201, 31-44.
- Ciais, P., C. Sabine, G. Bala, L. Bopp, V. Brovkin, J. Canadell, A. Chhabra, R. DeFries, J. Galloway, M. Heimann, C. Jones, C. Le Quéré, R. B. Myneni, S. Piao and P. Thornton, 2013: Carbon and Other Biogeochemical Cycles. In: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T. F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S. K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia,

V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 465-570.

- Cleveland, C. C., Liptzin, D., 2007. C:N:P stoichiometry in soil: Is there a "Redfield ratio" for the microbial biomass? Biogeochemistry 85, 235-252.
- Couteaux, M. M., Bottner, P., Berg, B., 1995. Litter decomposition, climate, and litter quality. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 10, 63-66.
- Craine, J. M., Morrow, C., Fierer, N., 2007. Microbial nitrogen limitation increases decomposition. Ecology 88, 2105-2113.
- Dakora, F. D., Phillips, D. A. 2002. Root exudates as mediators of mineral acquisition in low-nutrient environments. Plant Soil 245, 35-47.
- Davidson, E. A., Hart, S.C., Shanks, C.A. Firestone, M. K.1991. Measuring gross nitrogen mineralization, and nitrification by ¹⁵N isotopic pool dilution in intact soil cores, Journal of Soil Science, 42, 335-349
- Davidson, E., Janssens, I., 2006. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440, 165-173.
- Demoling, F., Figueroa D., Bååth, E., 2007. Comparison of factors limiting bacterial growth in different soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 39, 2485–2495.
- Dijkstra, F., Bader, N., Johnson, D., and Cheng, W., 2009. Does accelerated soil organic matter decomposition in the presence of plants increase plant N availability? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 41, 1080-1087.
- Dijkstra, F., Carrillo, Y., Pendall, E., and Morgan, J., 2013. Rhizosphere priming: a nutrient perspective, Frontiers in Microbiology 4, 216
- Dijkstra, F. A., Cheng, W., Johnson, D.W., 2006. Plant biomass influences rhizosphere priming effects on soil organic matter decomposition in two differently managed soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 2519-2526.
- Dijkstra, F. A., Cheng, W., 2007a. Moisture modulates rhizosphere effects on C decomposition in two different soil types. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39, 2264-2274.
- Dijkstra, F. A., and Cheng, W., 2007b. Interactions between soil and tree roots accelerate long-term soil carbon decomposition. *Ecology Letters 10*, 1046–1053.
- Dijkstra, F. A., Morgan, J. A., Blumenthal, D., and Follett, R. F., 2010. Water limitation and plant inter-specific competition reduce rhizosphere-induced C decomposition and plant N uptake, Soil Biology and Biochemistry, Elsevier 42, 1073-1082.
- Drake, J., Gallet-Budynek, A., Hofmockel, K., Bernhardt, E., Billings, S., Jackson, R., Johnsen, K., Lichter, J., McCarthy, H., McCormack, L., Moore, D., Oren, R., Palmroth, S., Phillips, R., Pippen, J., Pritchard, S., Treseder, K., Schlesinger, W., DeLucia, E., and Finzi, A., 2011. Increases in the flux of carbon belowground stimulate nitrogen uptake and sustain the long-term enhancement of forest productivity under elevated CO₂. Ecology Letters14, 349–357.
- Drake, J. E., Darby, B. A., Giasson, M.-A., Kramer, M. A., Phillips, R. P., Finzi, A. C., 2013. Stoichiometry constrains microbial response to root exudation- insights from a model and a field experiment in a temperate forest, Biogeosciences, 10, 821–838.

- Finzi, A. C., Abramoff, R. Z., Spiller, K. S., Brzostek, E. R., Darby, B. A., Kramer, M. A., Phillips, R. P., 2015. Rhizosphere processes are quantitatively important components of terrestrial carbon and nutrient cycles. Global Change Biology 21, 2082-2094.
- Fontaine, S., Mariotti, A., Abbadie, L., 2003. The priming effect of organic matter: a question of microbial competition? Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35: 837-843.
- Fontaine, S., Henault, C., Aamor, A., Bdioui, N., Bloor, J., Maire, V., Mary, B., Revailallot, P.A., Maron, P.A., 2011. Fungi mediate long term sequestration of carbon and nitrogen in soil through their priming effect. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 86-96.
- Fu, S., Cheng, W., 2002. Rhizosphere priming effects on the decomposition of soil organic matter in C4 and C3 grassland soils. Plant and Soil 238, 289-294.
- Galloway J. N., Townsend A. R., Erisman J. W., Bekunda M., Cai Z., Freney J. F., Marteinelli L.A., Seitzinger, S. P., Sutton M.A. 2008. Transformations of the nitrogen cycle: Recent trends, questions, and potential solutions. Science 320, 889-892.
- Garcia-Pausas, J., Paterson, E. 2011. Microbial community abundance and structure are determinants of soil organic matter mineralisation in the presence of labile carbon. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 43, 1705-1715.
- Geisseler, D., Horwath W. R. 2008. Regulation of extracellular protease activity in soil in response to different sources and concentrations of nitrogen and carbon. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 40, 3040-3048.
- Gill, R. A., Polley, H. W., Johnson, H. B., Anderson, L. J., Maherali, H., and Jackson, R. B., 2002. Nonlinear grassland responses to past and future atmospheric CO₂. Nature 417, 279-82.
- Gorissen, A., Tietema, A., Joosten, N. N., Estiarte, M., Penuelas, J., Sowerby, A., Emmett, B.A., Beier, C., 2004. Climate change affects carbon allocation to the soil in shrublands. Ecosystems 7, 650–661.
- Halliwell B, Gutteridge J. M. C., 1999. The chemistry of free radicals and related 'reactive species'. In Free radicals in biology and medicine. pp 36–104. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Hamer, U., and Marschner, B., 2005a. Priming effects in different soil types induced by fructose, alanine, oxalic acid, and catechol additions, Soil Biology and Biochemistry 37, 445-454.
- Hamer, U., Marschner, B., 2005b. Priming effects in soils after combined and repeated substrate additions. Geoderma 128, 38-51.
- Helal, H. M., Sauerbeck, D. R., 1984. Influence of plant roots on C and P metabolism in soil. Plant and Soil, 76, 175-182.
- Hessen, D. O., Agren, G. I., Anderson, T. R., Elser, J. J., De Ruiter, P. C., 2004. Carbon sequestration in ecosystems: the role of stoichiometry. Ecology 85, 1179–1192.
- Hill, P. W, Garnett, M. H, Farrar, J, and Iqbal, Z., 2015. Living roots magnify the response of soil organic carbon decomposition to temperature in temperate grassland, Global change biology 21, 1368-1375.

- Hopkins, F. M., Filley, T. R., Gleixner, G., Lange, M., Top, S. M., and Trumbore, S. E., 2014. Increased belowground carbon inputs and warming promote loss of soil organic carbon through complementary microbial responses, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, Elsevier 76, 57–69.
- Houghton, R.R., 2007. Balancing the global carbon budget. Annual Review, Earth Planet. Sci. 35, 313-347.
- Högberg, P., Nordgren, A., Buchmann, N., Taylor, A. F., Ekblad, A., Högberg, M. N., Nyberg, G., Ottosson-Löfvenius, M., and Read, D. J., 2001. Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. Nature 411, 789– 92.
- Hütsch, B., Augustin, J., Merbach, W., 2002. Plant rhizodeposition an important source for carbon turnover in soils. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 165, 397-407.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2014.
- Jan, M. T., Roberts, Tonheim, S. K., Jones, D. L., 2009. Protein breakdown represents a major bottleneck in nitrogen cycling in grassland soils. Soil Biology & Biochemistry, 41, 2272–2282.
- Janssens, I. A., 2010. Reduction of forest soil respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. *Nature Geoscience* **3**, 315–322.
- Johnson, N. C., Graham, J. H., Smith, F. A. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism–parasitism continuum. New phytologist 135, 575-585.
- Kaiser, C., Koranda, M., Kitzler, B., Fuchslueger, L., Schnecker, J., Schweiger, P., Rasche, F., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., Sessitsch, A., Richter, A. 2010. Belowground carbon allocation by trees drives seasonal patterns of extracellular enzyme activities by altering microbial community composition in a beech forest soil. New Phytologist 187, 843-858.
- Kamble, P, N., Rousk, J., Frey, S, D., Bååth, E. 2013. Bacterial growth and growthlimiting nutrients following chronic nitrogen additions to a hardwood forest soil, Soil Biology and Biochemistry 59, 32–37.
- Kirkham, D., W. V. Bartholomew. 1954. Equations for following nutrient transformations in soil, utilizing tracer data. Soil Science Society of America Proceedings 18, 33-34.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Kretzschmar, A., Stahr, K. 1999. Contribution of Lolium perenne rhizodeposition to carbon turnover of pasture soil. Plant and soil 213, 127–136.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Friedel, J. K., Stahr, K. 2000. Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 32, 1485-1498.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Cheng, W. 2001. Photosynthesis controls of rhizosphere respiration and organic matter decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 1915-1925.
- Kuzyakov, Y. 2002. Separating microbial respiration of exudates from root respiration in non-sterile soils: a comparison of four methods. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 34, 1621-1631.

- Kuzyakov, Y. 2006. Sources of CO₂ efflux from soil and review of partitioning methods. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 425-448.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Bol, R. 2006. Sources and mechanisms of priming effect induced in two grassland soils amended with slurry and sugar. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38, 747-758.
- Kuzyakov, Y., and Xu, X. 2013. Competition between roots and microorganisms for nitrogen: mechanisms and ecological relevance, New Phytologist 198, 656–669.
- Lal R. 2010. Managing Soils and Ecosystems for Mitigating Anthropogenic Carbon Emissions and Advancing Global Food Security. Bioscience 60, 708–721.
- Liu, X.-J., Sun, J., Mau, R., Finley, B., Compson, Z., van Gestel, N., Brown, J., Schwartz, E., Dijkstra, P., and Hungate, B. 2017. Labile carbon input determines the direction and magnitude of the priming effect, Applied Soil Ecology, sciencedirect 109, 7-13.
- Mary, B., Recous, S., Robin, D. 1998. A model for calculating nitrogen fluxes in soil using ¹⁵N tracing. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 30, 1963–1979.
- McCarroll, D., Loader, N.J. 2004. Stable isotopes in tree rings. Q. Sci. Rev. 23, 771-801.
- Marxsen, J., Witzel, K. P. 1991. Significance of extracellular enzymes for organic matter degradation and nutrient regeneration in small streams. In: Chrôst R. J (ed) microbial enzymes in aquatic environments. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp 270-285.
- Murphy, C. J. Baggs., E. M., Morley, N., Wall, D. P., Paterson, E. 2015. Rhizosphere priming can promote mobilisation of N-rich compounds from soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 81, 236-243.
- Murphy, C. J., Baggs, E. M., Morley, N., Wall, D.P., Paterson, E. 2017. Nitrogen availability alters rhizosphere processes mediating soil organic matter mineralisation. Plant and Soil, 417, 499-510.
- Nie, M., Pendall, E. 2016. 'Do rhizosphere priming effects enhance plant nitrogen uptake under elevated CO₂?' Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 224, 50-55.
- Nottingham, A., Griffiths, H., Chamberlain, P., Stott, A., Tanner, E. 2009. Soil priming by sugar and leaf-litter substrates: A link to microbial groups. Applied Soil Ecology 42, 183-190.
- Paterson, E., Midwood, A. J., and Millard, P. 2009. Through the eye of the needle: a review of isotope approaches to quantify microbial processes mediating soil carbon balance, New Phytologist, Wiley Online Library 184, 19–33.
- Paterson, E., Sim, A. 2013. Soil-specific response functions of organic matter mineralization to the availability of labile carbon. Global Change Biology 19, 1562-1571.
- Paterson, E., Sim, A., Davidson, J., Daniell, T.J. 2016. Arbuscular mycorrhizal hyphae promote priming of native soil organic matter mineralisation. Plant and Soil, 408, 243-254.
- Pausch, J., Zhu, B., Kuzyakov, Y., Cheng, W. 2013. Plant inter-species effects on rhizosphere priming of soil organic matter decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 57, 91-99.
- Pendall, E, Mosier, A. R, Morgan, J. A. 2004. Rhizodeposition stimulated by elevated CO₂ in a semiarid grassland, New Phytologist, 162, 447-458.

- Perez, J., Munoz-Dorado, J., de la Rubia, T., Martinez, J. 2002. Biodegradation and biological treatments of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin: an overview. International Microbiology, 5, 53–63.
- Perveen, N., Barot, S., Alvarez, G., Klumpp, K., Martin, R., Rapaport, A., Herfurth, D., Louault, F., and Fontaine, S. 2014. Priming effect and microbial diversity in ecosystem functioning and response to global change: a modeling approach using the SYMPHONY model. *Global Chang Biology 20*, 1174–90.
- Phillips, R. P., Bernhardt, E. S., and Schlesinger, W. H. 2009. Elevated CO₂ increases root exudation from loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) seedlings as an N-mediated response, Tree physiology 29, 1513.
- Phillips R, Finzi A, Bernhardt E. 2011. Enhanced root exudation induces microbial feedbacks to N cycling in a pine forest under long-term CO₂ fumigation. Ecology Letters 14, 187-194.
- Post, W. M., Kwon, K. C. 2000. Soil carbon sequestration and land-use change: processes and potential. Global Change Biology 6, 317–327.
- Qiao, N., Schaefer, D., Blagodatskaya, E., Zou, X., Xu, X., Kuzyakov, Y. 2014. Labile carbon retention compensates for CO₂ released by priming in forest soils. Global Change Biology, 20, 1943–1954.
- Qiao, N., Xu, X., Hu, Y., Blagodatskaya, E., Liu, Y., Schaefer, D., and Kuzyakov, Y. 2016. Carbon and nitrogen additions induce distinct priming effects along an organic-matter decay continuum, Scientific Reports, nature 6, 19865.
- Raich, J. W., Potter, C. S., and Bhagawati, D. 2002. Interannual variability in global soil respiration, 1980-1994, Global Change Biology, Wiley Online Library 8, 800-812.
- Reinsch, S. Ambus, P., Thornton, B., Paterson, E. 2013. Impact of future climatic conditions on the potential for plant-mediated soil organic matter priming. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 65, 133-140.
- Rousk, J., Hill, P., and Jones, D. 2015. Priming of the decomposition of ageing soil organic matter: concentration dependence and microbial control, Functional Ecology 29, 285–296.
- Rousk, K., Michelsen, A., and Rousk, J. 2016. Microbial control of soil organic matter mineralisation responses to labile carbon in subarctic climate change treatments. Glob Change Biology 12, 4150-4161.
- Simard, S. W., Perry, D. A., Jones, M. D., Myrold, D. D., Durall, D. M., Molina, R. 1997. Net transfer of carbon between ectomycorrhizal tree species in the field. Nature 388:579–582.
- Sinsabaugh, R. L., Lauber, C. L., Weintraub, M. N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S.D., Crenshaw, C., Contosta A. R., Cusack, D., Frey, S., Gallo, M.E., Gartner, T. B., Hobbie, S.E., Holland, K., Keeler, B. L., Powers, J. S., Stursova, M., Takacs-Vesbach, C., Waldrop, M. P., Wallenstein, M. D., Zak, DR., Zeglin, L. 2008. Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. Ecology Letters, 11, 1252-1264
- Schlesinger, W. H., Andrews, J. A. 2000. Soil respiration and the global carbon cycle. Biogeochemistry, 48, 7-20.

- Schimel, J., Weintraub, M. 2003. The implications of exoenzyme activity on microbial carbon and nitrogen limitation in soil: a theoretical model. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35, 549-563.
- Schimel, J., and Bennett, J. 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. Ecology 85, 591–602.
- Schlesinger, W. H., Andrews, J.A. 2000. Soil respiration and the global carbon cycle. Biogeochemistry 48, 7-20.
- Schuur, EA., McGuire, A. D., Schädel, C., Grosse, G., Harden, J. W., Hayes, D. J., Hugelius, G., Koven, C. D., Kuhry, P., Lawrence, D. M., Natali, SM., Olefeldt, D., Romanovsky, V. E., Schaefer, K., Turetsky, MR., Treat, CC., Vonk, J. E. 2015. Climate change and the permafrost carbon feedback, Nature, nature 520, 171-179.
- Six J, Frey SD, Thiet, R. K., Batten, K. M. 2006. Bacterial and fungal contributions to carbon sequestration in agroecosystems. Soil Science Society of America Journal 70, 555-569.
- Smith, B. N., Epstein, S. 1971.Two categories of ¹³C/¹²C ratios for higher plants. Plant Physiology 47,380–384.
- Socolow, R. H., Lam, S. H. 2007. Good enough tools for global warming policy making. Philosophical Transactions of Royal Society of London, 365, 897-934.
- Teste FP, Simard S. W, Durall D. M, Guy R. D, Berch SM. 2010. Net carbon transfer between Pseudotsuga menziesii var. glauca seedlings in the field is influenced by soil disturbance. Journal of Ecology 98:429–439.
- Thornley, J. H. M., Cannell, M. G. R. 2001. Soil carbon storage response to temperature: a hypothesis. Ann. Bot-London 87: 591–598.
- Todd-Brown, K. E. O., Randerson, J. T., Hopkins, F., Arora, V., Hajima, T., Jones, C., Shevliakova, E., Tjiputra, J., Volodin, E., Wu, T., Zhang, Q., Allison, S. D. 2014. Changes in soil organic carbon storage predicted by Earth system models during the 21st century. Biogeosciences, 11, 2341–2356.
- Van Groenigen, K. J., Qi, X., Osenberg, C. W., Luo, Y., Hungate, B. A. 2014. Faster decomposition under increased atmospheric CO₂ limits soil carbon storage. Science 344, 508-509.
- Veresoglou, S. D, Chen, B., Rillig, M. C. 2012. Arbuscular mycorrhiza and soil nitrogen cycling, *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 46, 53-62.
- Vestergård, M., Reinsch, S., Bengtson, P., Ambus, P., Christensen, S. 2016. Enhanced priming of old, not new soil carbon at elevated atmospheric CO₂. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, sciencedirect 100, 140–148.
- Vitousek, P. M., Aber, J. D., Howarth, R. W., Likens, G. E., Matson, P. A., Schindler, D. W., Schlesinger, W. H., and Tilman, D. G. 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: sources and consequences, Ecological applications, Wiley Online Library 7, 737–750
- Waksman, S.A., Starkey, R. L. 1931. The Soil and the Microbe. John Wiley, New York.
- Wallenstein, M. D., McNulty, S., Fernandez, I. J., Boggs, J. & Schlesinger, W. H. 2006. Nitrogen fertilization decreases forest soil fungal and bacterial biomass in three longterm experiments. Forest Ecology and Management, 222, 459–468.

- Wang, H., Boutton, T. W., Xu, W., Hu, G., Jiang, P., and Bai, E. 2015. Quality of fresh organic matter affects priming of soil organic matter and substrate utilization patterns of microbes. Scientific Reports 5, 10102.
- Warembourg, F. R., Esterlich, H. D. 2001. Plant phenology and soil fertility effects on below-ground carbon allocation for an annual (Bromus madritensis) and a perennial (Bromus erectus) grass species. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33, 1291-1303.
- Wild, B., Alaei, S., Bengtson, P., Bode´, S., Boeckx, P., Schnecker, J., Mayerhofer, W., Rütting, T. 2017. Short-term carbon input increases microbial nitrogen demand, but not microbial nitrogen mining, in a set of boreal forest soils. Biogeochemistry 136: 261-278.
- Xu, Q., X. Wang, and C. Tang. 2018. The effects of elevated CO₂ and nitrogen availability on rhizosphere priming of soil organic matter under wheat and white lupin. Plant and Soil 425:375-387.
- Yao, H-Y. Chapman, S. J., Thornton, B., Paterson, E. 2015. ¹³C PLFAs: a key to open the soil microbial black box? Plant and Soil 392, 3-15.
- Yin, H, Xiao, J, Li, Y, Chen, Z, Cheng, X, and Zhao, C. 2013. Warming effects on root morphological and physiological traits: the potential consequences on soil C dynamics as altered root exudation. Agricultural and forest meteorology 180, 287-296.
- Yin, H., Wheeler, E., and Phillips, R. 2014. Root-induced changes in nutrient cycling in forests depend on exudation rates, Soil Biology and Biochemistry 78, 213–221.
- Yin, L., F. A. Dijkstra, P. Wang, B. Zhu, and W. Cheng. 2018. Rhizosphere priming effects on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics among tree species with and without intraspecific competition. New Phytologist 218, 1036-1048.
- Yue, K., Peng, Y., Peng, C., Yang, W., Peng, X., and Wu, F. 2016. Stimulation of terrestrial ecosystem carbon storage by nitrogen addition: a meta-analysis., Scientific Reports 6, 19895.
- Zomer, R. J., Bossio, D. A., Sommer, R., Verchot, L. V. 2017. Global Sequestration Potential of Increased Organic Carbon in Cropland Soils. Scientific reports, 7, 15554.
- Zhu, B., Cheng, W. 2011. Rhizosphere priming effect increases the temperature sensitivity of soil organic matter decomposition. Global Change Biology 17, 2172-2183.
- Zhu, B., Cheng, W. 2013. Impacts of drying–wetting cycles on rhizosphere respiration and soil organic matter decomposition. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 63, 89-96.
- Zhu, B., Gutknecht, J., Herman, D., Keck, D., Firestone, M., Cheng, W. 2014. Rhizosphere priming effects on soil carbon and nitrogen mineralization, Soil Biology and Biochemistry 76, 183-192.

List of Papers

In this thesis, the papers are referred to by the following roman numerals:

- I. Alaei, S., Wild, B., Knorr, W., Rütting, T., Bengtson, P. Priming induced CO₂ and N fluxes are governed by C and N imbalances and microbial nutrient deficiency. *Manuscript*.
- II. Wild, B., Alaei, S., Bengtson, P., Bode', S., Boeckx, P., Schnecker, J., Mayerhofer, W., Rütting, T. 2017. Short-term carbon input increases microbial nitrogen demand, but not microbial nitrogen mining, in a set of boreal forest soils. *Biogeochemistry 136: 261-278*.
- III. Alaei, S., Karhu, K., Li, J., Rütting, T., Bengtson, P. Priming of soil organic matter mineralization by glucose additions in boreal forest soils with different C:N ratios. *Manuscript*.
- IV. Zhou, M., Alaei, S., Li, J., Bengtson, P. Rhizosphere priming effects differ between two tree species, Norway spruce (*Picea abies*), and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) under two levels of light intensity. *Manuscript*.
- V. Alaei, S., Li, J., Jackowicz-Korczynski, M., Bengtson, P. The influence of elevated CO₂ and N fertilization on rhizosphere priming, C sequestration and N cycling in soil planted with *Picea abies* seedlings. *Manuscript*.

Paper II is reprinted with the permission from the publisher.



Faculty of Science Department of Biology

